1979

Steven Kuhnhausen v. Utah State Bar : Brief of Petitioner

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

The Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar, after formal hearing, refused to certify to this Court that the petitioner was an individual of good moral character. Petitioner is requesting that this Court review the evidence presented at hearing and exercise its inherent power in matters dealing with the courts of this State and order his admission to the Utah State Bar.

INTRODUCTION

On the 29th of April, 1977, petitioner Steven Kuhnhausen filed his formal application for admission to the Utah State Bar. In July of 1977, the petitioner was required to appear before the Character and Fitness Screening Committee of the Bar. At that meeting, Mr. Kuhnhausen was asked to explain the circumstances of his arrest in 1976. Mr. Kuhnhausen informed the Committee that the arrest had been expunged by court order and it was his understanding of the law that the effect of such an expungement was to permit him to answer all questions regarding the incident as though it had never occurred, or to refrain from answering such inquiries at all. The Committee members acknowledged the existence of the expungement order, but persisted in questioning the petitioner about the underlying events. Mr. Kuhnhausen refused to answer any questions regarding that matter.

The Committee subsequently declined to recommend that Mr. Kuhnhausen be permitted to sit for the Utah State Bar Examination. The petitioner requested a formal hearing on his character and fitness, and asked leave to sit for the examination pending the determination reached at that hearing. This request was granted, and Mr. Kuhnhausen was informed in September of 1977 that he had successfully passed the examination.

On October 21, 1977, a hearing was held on the subject of the petitioner's fitness, with Commissioner W. Eugene Hansen presiding. The petitioner testified on his own behalf and offered the testimony of three members of the Bar with whom he had become acquainted while working as a legal intern with Utah Legal Services. All three expressed the opinion that Mr. Kuhnhausen was possessed of superior abilities and had the high moral qualities necessary to the practice of law. The only evidence offered by the Bar on the subject of the petitioner's moral fitness was embodied in a stipulation agreed to by respective counsel that a Mr. Hedberg, who was called, would testify that in June of 1976 he was in the apartment of the petitioner and on that occasion he observed certain controlled substances in the apartment. This stipulation was agreed to after the hearing officer had denied Mr. Kuhnhausen's motion to exclude such evidence as being violative of his rights under Utah's expungement statute and the court ordered decree of expungement.

On January 6, 1978, the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar entered their findings and conclusions, refusing to certify Mr. Kuhnhausen for membership in the Utah State Bar.

The petitioner is now requesting this Court to review the action taken by the Commission and to admit him to the practice of law in the State of Utah.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE REFUSAL OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS TO CERTIFY THE PETITIONER WAS BASED UPON EVIDENCE OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF COURT ORDER AND STATUTORY LAW, AND ITS ADMISSION RESULTED IN A DENIAL TO THE PETITIONER OF A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL HEARING.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-17.5 (Supp. 1977), provides, in part, that following a petition for expungement:

If the court finds that the petitioner is eligible for relief under this subsection, it shall issue its order granting the relief prayed for and further directing the law enforcement agency making the initial arrest to retrieve any record of that arrest which may have been forwarded to the Federal Bureau of Identification. Thereafter, the arrest, detention, and any further proceedings in that case shall be deemed not to have occurred, and a petitioner may answer accordingly any question relating to their existence.

In the instant case, the petitioner requested such relief, and pursuant to this statute, orders of expungement were duly issued by both the Salt Lake City and Third District Courts prior to the date Mr. Kuhnhausen applied for the Bar. The Bar, however, became advised of the petitioner's arrest record and, with full knowledge of the orders of expungement, obtained copies of Mr. Kuhnhausen's arrest records and court proceedings.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-17.5(4) (Supp. 1977), clearly provides under what circumstances access to expunged records is to be permitted:

Inspection of the records shall thereafter be permitted by the Court only upon petition by the person who is the subject of those records and only to the persons named in that petition.

Mr. Kuhnhausen never filed such a petition, on behalf of the Utah State Bar or anyone else. The statute does not provide for dissemination of the expunged records without such a petition, and whether such occurs by mistake, negligence or intentional disobedience to court order, unlawful release of the information contained in those records should not be allowed to violate the protection granted

Since these records should not be allowed to violate the protection granted in those records, they should not be disseminated to the public. This document is a reproduction of the original document, as preserved in the National Archives and Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

elsewhere in the statute and subject an individual whose record has been expunged from inquiry from which he would otherwise be immune.

There can be no doubt that the Legislature was fully aware of the broad rights it was creating by passage of the expungement statute, and that they fully intended to insure that individuals who qualified for the protection of the act would no longer be penalized and stigmatized by prior arrest records. The Bar, however, acted in open defiance of this legislative intention by obtaining the petitioner's arrest record and then offering evidence of the arresting officer's observations at the time of arrest. This testimony being the only evidence upon which the Bar based its refusal to certify Mr. Kuhnhausen, the petitioner respectfully submits that this Court should indorse the laudable intent of the legislature and refuse to penalize the petitioner for an arrest which has been judicially expunged, and which by statute is "deemed not to have occurred."

POINT II. THE ACTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT HEARING.

It is beyond question that when reviewing recommendations of the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar, this Court is not bound by the findings and conclusions of the Commissioners, but retains the ultimate authority to review the facts and make an independent determination. This power stems from the Court's inherent authority to control admission to the practice of law and discipline those admitted. Ruckenbrod v. Mullins, 102 Utah 548, 133 P.2d 325 (1943); Hild v. Burton, 64 Utah 562, 232 P. 914 (1924).

Past decisions of this Court have recognized that while the recommendations of the Commission should be accorded due consideration, they will not be adopted "unless supported by substantial evidence," In Re MacFarlane, 10 Utah 2d 217,

P. 2d 631, 633 (1960), and will always be disregarded if they appear to have been made arbitrarily, capriciously or unreasonably. In Re Badger, 27 Utah 2d 174, 493 P.2d 1273 (1972). In Re Johnston, 524 P.2d 593 (Utah 1974).

The petitioner respectfully submits that the Commission's conclusion that he "did not establish that he is possessed of good moral character and entitled to the high regard and confidence of the public" is not supported by any substantial evidence in the record, and that the Commission's refusal to certify him for admission to the Bar was arbitrary and unreasonable.

The petitioner is fully aware and acknowledges that an applicant for admission to membership in the Bar bears the burden of establishing his fitness. However, as has been noted by the Supreme Courts of other jurisdictions, once the applicant presents prima facie evidence of his good character it is the obligation of the party opposing his admission to come forward and rebut that evidence, with any reasonable doubt encountered being resolved in favor of the applicant.

In Hallinin v. Committee of Bar Examiners, 421 P.2d 76 (Cal. 1966), the California Supreme Court noted that:

In disciplinary proceedings this court examines and weighs the evidence and passes upon its sufficiency. Any reasonable doubts encountered should be resolved in favor of the accused. These rules are equally applicable to admission proceedings. Id. at 80 (citations omitted)

In Greene v. Committee of Bar Examiners, 4 Cal. 3d 189, 480 P.2d 976 (1971), the Court again expressly held that reasonable doubts as to the good character of an applicant must be resolved in the applicant's favor after he has established a prima facie

showing of good character. For examples of other jurisdictions employing this same standard, see Coleman v. Watts, 81 So.2d 63 (Fla. 1955); Petition of Waters, 447 P.2d 661 (Nev. 1968).

In the instant matter, it is apparent that the Commission applied a much different standard to Mr. Kuhnhausen. Conclusion number six (6) of the Commission states that the applicant "did not remove any and all reasonable suspicion of moral unfitness." The obvious implication being that the applicant was not only given the burden of proof, but was subjected to a presumption of unfitness which could only be overcome with evidence sufficient to remove "all suspicion."

The imposition of such a burden, to clear himself of all and all suspicion, is patently arbitrary and unreasonable. As the court stated in March v. Committee of Bar Examiners, 433 P.2d 138 (Cal. 1967):

the fundamental question to be determined is the same whether the matter at issue relates to an applicant for admission or an attorney upon whom discipline has been imposed: is the petitioner a fit and proper person to be permitted to practice law, and the answer to this usually turns upon whether he has committed or is likely to continue to commit acts of moral turpitude.
Id. at 193

The purpose of attorney discipline or refusal to admit applicants to practice is, as this Court has acknowledged, to protect the public from unscrupulous practitioners, and not to impose a penalty upon the attorney or candidate. In Re Badger, supra. When an applicant for admission is forced to dispel all suspicion, the Commission may indulge in with regard to his fitness, and a failure to meet this subjective requirement results in denial of the

practice his chosen profession, many applicants might find themselves penalized for conduct--or even suspected conduct--which in no way bears upon their ability to render able and honest service to the public. Such a formula for admission or denial of the right to follow one's chosen profession is wholly inconsistent with any notion of due process.

In cases involving attorney discipline, this Court has held that "charges should be clearly sustained by convincing proof and a fair preponderance of the evidence." In Re Hanson, 158 P. 778, 779 (Utah 1916). Further, the charges so proved must show the attorney engaged in acts of moral turpitude which reflect upon his ability or willingness to deal with the public honestly and with a high degree of integrity and fidelity. In Re Platz, 42 U. 439, 132 P. 390 (1913).

As has been demonstrated above, once an applicant makes a prima facie showing of his good character, the same standard should be applied in determining if the evidence regarding his actions "clearly sustains by convincing proof" that he is guilty of conduct which is inconsistent with his professional duty; that is, acts of moral turpitude.

This Court addressed itself to the question of what constitutes moral turpitude in In Re Pearce, 136 P.2d 969 (1943), wherein it was acknowledged that :

moral turpitude is adaptive; it is determined by the state of public morals and the common sense of the community. Moral turpitude is an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellow men or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man. 136 P.2d at 792. (citations omitted)

It is noteworthy that in addressing itself to the question of whether possession of marijuana was an act involving moral turpitude, the California Supreme Court applied those tests enumerated above to conclude that it was not. In In Re Higbie, 493 P.2d 97 (Cal. 1972), the court held that:

Possession or use of marijuana is, of course, unlawful, but measured by the morals of the day its possession or use does not constitute "an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity . . . contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man," or indicate that an attorney is unable to meet the professional and fiduciary duties of his practice. Id at 103 (citations omitted)

The record in this matter is devoid of any showing that the petitioner lacks the integrity, fidelity or honesty necessary to the practice of law. Indeed, quite the contrary is true as individuals acquainted with Mr. Kuhnhausen both in professional and social roles testified that he was possessed of those attributes and a high degree of legal competence as well. The Commission disregarded this testimony, and based upon an inference entirely extrinsic to the record, concluded that the petitioner had possessed controlled substances with the intent to distribute them. Bar counsel never questioned the petitioner regarding his alleged possession of controlled substances, and there was absolutely no testimony of any kind suggesting any intent to distribute controlled substances.

In addition, there is a complete absence in the record of any suggestion that the conduct which the Bar suspected the petitioner to have engaged in in any way limited Mr. Kuhnhausen's ability or desire to offer effective and trustworthy legal

his willingness to take the attorney's oath and to abide by its tenets and those of the Canons of Ethics. Despite this assertion and the supporting testimony regarding the petitioner's moral fitness, the Commission relied upon a "suspicion" of unfitness to refuse to certify Mr. Kuhnhausen to become a member of the profession for which he had diligently prepared and for which he had already demonstrated his academic competence.

The Nevada Supreme Court has noted that admission to the practice of law is not a matter of grace and favor, but is a right afforded to all who possess the necessary qualifications. Petition of Schaengold, 422 P.2d 686 (1967). The petitioner submits that the denial of this right cannot be premised upon a suspicion of the Commissioners unsupported by any evidence in the record and which can only be rebutted by evidence meeting a standard of proof known to none save those who pass judgment.

The petitioner respectfully submits that the record developed at his hearing justifies his admission to the profession and asks this Court to not adopt the findings and conclusions of the Commission, but rather, to rule favorably on his present petition and order the entry of his name upon the rolls of those admitted to the practice of law in this state.

CONCLUSION

On the basis of an arrest which was judicially expunged prior to Mr. Kuhnhausen's application for admission to the Bar, the petitioner was questioned regarding his moral fitness to become an attorney. The petitioner relied upon the word of the law and declined to answer questions regarding his arrest. The Bar was dissatisfied with this silence, and contrary

to the intent of the expungment statute obtained evidence that the applicant had once possessed controlled substances. A hearing was then held where witnesses testified to Mr. Kuhnhausen's moral fitness and the petitioner himself affirmatively pledged to abide by the oath of the profession and its Canons of Ethics. The Commission was still not satisfied, having a suspicion about the petitioner's moral fitness--a suspicion based entirely upon a single arrest, in which the charges were ultimately dismissed, and the petitioner's assertion of his rights under the law to consider the arrest legally deemed not to have taken place.

The petitioner respectfully submits that the Commission's action in refusing to honor his right under the order of expungement, and in drawing a negative inference from the assertion of that right, was arbitrary and unreasonable. The petitioner further submits that the record developed at his hearing shows him to be an individual of high moral character, and the Commission's conclusion not to certify him on the basis of suspicion of unfitness is totally inconsistent with its duty to abide by the law and render impartial judgments on the basis of the evidence offered, with any reasonable doubts being resolved in favor of the applicant.

The petitioner therefore requests this Court for an order granting him admission to the Utah State Bar.