1979

## Steven Kuhnhausen v. Utah State Bar : Brief of Utah State Bar

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This matter is on appeal from a ruling by the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar that the petitioner has failed to satisfy the requirement that he be of good moral character, and is thus denied admission to the Utah State Bar.

RELIEF SOUGHT

Petitioner requests a reversal of the ruling of the Board of Commissioners and an order requiring his admission to the Utah State Bar.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner presents a recital of the facts involved in the Introduction of his Brief. The first paragraph therein refers to a hearing before the Character and Fitness Committee of the Utah State Bar. Since a record of those proceedings was not made is not before the Court at this time in the record on appeal, we can only refer to the notice sent to petitioner, which states that the named committee "cannot certify the applicant is of approved good moral character and general fitness to practice law." (Record, p. 36). This notice also

advised petitioner of his right to a further hearing, which right was exercised by petitioner by the filing of a Formal Request for Hearing with the Executive Director of the Utah State Bar. (Record, p. 35). Subsequently, counsel for petitioner filed a motion to exclude certain evidence. (Record, p. 19). In part, petitioner sought to exclude any and all evidence pertaining to an arrest and conviction which were later reversed and for which an order of expungement issued. This part of petitioner's motion was granted. Petitioner also sought to exclude evidence which pertained to the expunged matter, but could be introduced into evidence without reference to the arrest, etc. Specifically, the issue was whether or not evidence could be admitted which was obtained from a search and seizure subsequently declared illegal under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution in State criminal proceedings. The Hearing Officer ruled that this evidence was admissible.

In the evidentiary hearing the above rulings were adhered to. Petitioner presented evidence as referred to in his Brief - his testimony and that of three members of Bar who testified as to petitioner's good character. Rather than continue the date of the hearing, the Bar and petitioner stipulated to admission of the testimony of Larry Hedberg, who could not attend the hearing. Hedberg's stipulated testimony was that in June of 1976 he had observed approximately one pound of marijuana and a lesser amount of cocaine in the apartment being rented by the petitioner. The Bar also offered as evidence the application to the Bar of the petitioner. (Exhibit 1 of transcript). Petitioner had stated in that application that he had been accused of "smoking pot" in 1963 while in the Marine Corps, and later received an

undesirable discharge, which was later upgraded to a general discharge and then to an honorable discharge. On cross examination, each of the character witnesses offered by the petitioner stated that in his or her opinion, use of marijuana or cocaine is not, by itself, sufficient reason to exclude someone from membership in the Bar, because of lack of moral character.

## ARGUMENT

### I

EVIDENCE OFFERED BY THE BAR WAS PROPERLY  
ADMITTED AND DID NOT DENY PETITIONER A  
FAIR AND IMPARTIAL HEARING.

It is true, as stated in Petitioner's Brief, that the Bar's investigator obtained copies of the arrest, conviction, and subsequent expungement orders of the petitioner. It is also true that these materials should not have been provided by the court for the investigator. However, it is not true that this was the only source of the information which led to denying petitioner admission to the Bar. No where in the record is that stated. To the contrary, the investigation by the Bar was actually initiated by a call from a licensed member of the Bar to the Executive Director. Petitioner's counsel was informally told of this, but it also does not appear of record.

The Bar did not rely on nor even utilize the expunged matters in the evidentiary hearing. The Hearing Officer did, however, allow use of the Hedberg testimony, although it consisted of observations during a search and seizure later declared illegal under the

Fourth Amendment. This issue was argued at some length prior to the evidentiary hearing. (Record, pp. 8-31). The Bar argued then, and does so again, that the exclusionary rule as first established in Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1971), is not applicable to Bar applicant proceedings so as to prevent use of evidence obtained in a search later declared illegal. The purpose of the exclusionary rule is to deter police officers from conducting illegal searches. This purpose is adequately served by preventing the use of tainted evidence in criminal proceedings. As stated in United States v. Janis, 428 U.S. 433 (1976):

. . . the "prime purpose of the rule, if not the sole one is to deter future unlawful police conduct. . . in sum, the rule is a judicially created remedy designed to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights generally through its deterrent effect, rather than a personal constitutional right of the party aggrieved. . . as with any remedial device, the application of the rule has been restricted to those areas where its remedial objectives are thought most efficaciously served." at 466, quoting United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338 (1974).

The Court found that the goal of deterrence was sufficiently served by excluding the illegally seized evidence in the state criminal proceedings. As a result, the evidence was allowed to be used in Internal Revenue Service proceedings. Similarly, in the case of Morale v. Grigel, 422 F.Supp. 938 (D.C.N.H. 1976), the court held that the exclusionary rule did not apply to college disciplinary action based on evidence of marijuana use obtained in a warrantless search. In examining the Janis rule, this court stated that "The Supreme Court clearly intends to limit the exclusionary rule to criminal proceedings and to allow only a criminal defendant to invoke its protections."



Thus, the Hearing Officer properly found that the exclusionary rule was inapplicable, and that the testimony of Larry Hedberg was admissible. The petitioner had previously been extended the benefits of the exclusionary rule in the criminal proceedings through dismissal and expungement. He was not entitled to the further application of the rule in the Bar proceedings, which are essentially civil in nature.

## II

### THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS WAS FULLY SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE SUSTAINED HEREIN.

This Court has elucidated the following standard in its review of Bar disciplinary cases:

This court has previously stated that it would look upon the findings and recommendations of the Bar Commission with indulgence and would not disregard its action unless there was something to persuade this court that the Commission had acted capriciously, arbitrarily, or beyond the scope of its power or was plainly in error.  
In re Badger, 27 Utah 2d 174, 493 P.2d 1273 (1972).

Presumably, the same standard applies in Bar application cases. It is clear from the record herein, that the Bar Commission did not abuse its authority in finding that the petitioner was not qualified for admission to the Bar.

Petitioner's evidence of good moral character consisted of his own testimony and that of three members of the Bar. The testimony of petitioner included information about his educational and employment background. (Tr. pp. 5-6). He described in some detail his work as a para-professional law clerk at Utah Legal Services. (Tr. pp. 6-9). He denied ever having committed or having

been accused of committing any acts which were dishonest or contrary to the Code of Professional Responsibility in connection with his dealings with clients at Legal Services. (Tr. p. 11-12). During cross examination, the petitioner further stated that in his opinion he had not engaged in any activities in his personal life in contravention of the code of ethics. (Tr. p. 13).

The three witnesses who testified on behalf of the petitioner all had worked with him at Utah Legal Services and all are members of the Utah State Bar. Each testified in large part as to the petitioner's professional competence. None addressed specifically the moral qualifications of the petitioner. In fact, none of them really had much contact with the petitioner outside of their on-the-job activities. Thus, petitioner's prima facie case of moral character consisted only of his own statements and those of colleagues relating primarily to professional and intellectual capabilities.

Cross examination of the three character witnesses revealed that their opinions as to the qualification of the petitioner were tainted by their opinions concerning the use of illegal drugs and its relationship to Bar membership. The first witness, Barney Gesas, testified as follows:

Q Mr. Gesas, in your opinion, is a person who uses marijuana morally fit to be a member of the Utah State Bar?

A You're asking me hypothetically?

Q In your opinion.

A My opinion, I would say I don't think that would constitute moral turpitude in my opinion as a basis for denial of admission to the Bar.

Q In your opinion, is a person who uses cocaine morally

fit to be a member of the Bar?

. . .

A The question you asked me is if someone uses cocaine would I deem them fit for admission to the Bar on the grounds of moral fitness?

Q Correct.

A My answer would be probably. I would have to know the totality of the person, their work product. I would generally say, if that was an isolated situation, that person were known to use cocaine, I would probably want to explore it more. But I would generally say I don't think that's a basis to deny admission. My reason for that is that the use of that drug-- I'm not personally familiar with it; I have only read about it--that's a consensual type of action. Someone is not imposing on others, is not profiting by it.

I'm not espousing that it should be legal, but I'm saying I would want to look further into that person. That alone I would not use as a basis to deny admission to the Bar.

(Tr. pp. 22-23).

Another witness, James T. Massey, testified as follows on cross:

Q Mr. Massey, in your opinion is a person who uses marijuana morally fit to be a member of the Bar?

In your opinion, is a person who uses marijuana morally fit to be a member of the Bar?

A That being the sole criterion, a person who has used it?

Q Who uses marijuana.

A It would be difficult without knowing what you mean "uses."

Q Smokes marijuana.

A In terms of frequency. I think a person -- I'll answer that question, no, not necessarily. I don't think it automatically disqualifies people from being fit to practice law the way the question was posed.

Q In your opinion, is a person who uses cocaine morally fit to be a member of the Bar?

A I would have the same answer." (Tr. pp.34-35).

The last character witness, Patricia De Michele, stated as follows:

"Q Patty, in your opinion, is a person who uses marijuana morally fit to be a member of the Bar?

A In general?

Q Yes.

A Yes, I believe so. Well, I would qualify that by saying, all things being equal, that alone would not in my mind make someone unfit.

Q In your opinion, is a person who uses cocaine morally fit to be a member of the Bar?

A With the same kind of qualifications?

Q Same.

A Yes."

(Tr. pp. 40-41).

The Bar presented the testimony of Larry Hedberg. Mr. Hedberg was unable to attend the hearing, but in the interest of having the issue resolved both parties stipulated to the content of that testimony. The testimony was as follows:

. . . in June of 1976 he was in the apartment of the applicant, Mr. Kuhnhausen, and in that apartment he observed approximately one pound of marijuana and a lesser amount of cocaine. (Tr. p. 42).

Also placed in evidence by the Bar as Exhibit 1, was the "Applicant's Questionnaire and Affidavit" filed with the Utah State Bar by the petitioner. The document was identified by the petitioner as having been filled and signed by him. (Tr. pp. 12-13). Question 3 of that document asks for information concerning service in the armed forces. Under a subsection designated "Other details" of question 3, petitioner states as follows:

In June 1963, I was confronted by my head NCO who said he knew I smoked "pot". I was advised by him that if a (sic) saw a doctor he would not inform the C.O. I went to the Naval Hospital the following morning and after telling the doctor that I smoked (sic) pot, he called my CO. I was then informed that no charges would be brought against me if I would accept an undesirable discharge. Two months later I was out of the service. I never had any disciplinary or complaints filed against me and other than this incident my service was exemplary. Subsequently the discharge was upgraded to General and as I understand it I am eligible for amnesty and an honorable discharge.

Petitioner testified that eventually he received an honorable discharge.

No evidence or testimony was presented to rebut that offered by the Bar. Petitioner did not deny that in 1963 he smoked pot or attempt to explain away by any means the statement included in his Bar application. Petitioner did not deny that in 1976 there were in his apartment substantial amounts of marijuana and cocaine. He did not even offer an explanation as to why the drugs were in his apartment. The Hearing Officer and the Bar Commission came to the logical and unrefuted conclusion that the petitioner used marijuana in 1963 while in the Marine Corps, and used marijuana and cocaine in 1976, while in law school. It was reasonable to assume that he used illegal drugs during the interim period between 1963 and 1976. It was also reasonable to find that, because of the quantities of drugs observed in petitioner's apartment in 1976, he intended to distribute the drugs for value. None of this was denied by petitioner, although he had ample opportunity to do so.

Petitioner had the burden of establishing good moral character. Every applicant for admission to the Bar must establish that he or she is "of good moral character, and must produce satisfactory testimonial of good moral character; . . ." U.C.A. 73-51-10 (1953). Neither the petitioner nor any of his witnesses were of the opinion

that use of illegal drugs constitutes lack of moral character sufficient to prevent admission to practice law. The Board of Bar Commissioners disagreed. They concluded that the evidence established that petitioner "has an attitude of defiance of the law rather than a willingness to abide by the law," and that "in failing to admit the wrongfulness of his conduct or offer any evidence of his rehabilitation strongly suggests that he considers the aforesaid conduct proper and therefore has no need for rehabilitation." (Record, p. 6, Conclusions 2 and 3).

The Oath of an Attorney, which every attorney admitted to practice in the state of Utah must take and follow in practice, provides in part as follows:

I will support the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Utah, and that I will discharge the duties of Attorney and Counselor at Law with fidelity:

I will maintain the respect due to Courts of Justice and judicial officers;" Rule III, Revised Rules of Conduct of the Utah State Bar.


The evidence presented herein irrefutably established that Petitioner had possessed, used and possibly intended to sell, illegal drugs. Absent any further evidence, the Board of Commissioners properly found that the petitioner lacked the requisite good moral character and denied him admission to the Utah State Bar.

#### CONCLUSION

The evidence presented by the Bar in the hearing before the Hearing Officer was properly admitted and petitioner was given a full and fair hearing. Petitioner failed to establish that he possessed the necessary good moral character for admission to the

Bar or to refute evidence presented by the Bar and Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar properly denied petitioner admission to the Bar.